THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001930

Norris Earl White Jr.,

Appellant,

v.

City of North Charleston

Respondent.

RECEIVED

NOV 20 2017

SC Court of Appeals

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF



Milton Demetrios Stratos II
SC Bar No.: 102108
Joye Law Firm, L.L.P.
5861 Rivers Avenue (29406)
P.O. Box 62888
North Charleston, SC 29419-2888
(843) 554-3100
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment where evidence of probable cause was disputed?
2. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment on the basis that there is no private right of action for Appellant's claims of false arrest, false imprisonment and unlawful search and seizure, in holding Appellant's state law claims of false arrest and negligence to a gross negligence standard, and in granting immunity to Respondent on the basis of discretionary judgment and/or intentional acts under the tort claims act?
3. Did the court below err in considering affidavits submitted by Respondent in Support of Summary Judgment to the extent the affidavits were withheld during the course of discovery and/or conflict previously provided testimony?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 4, 2015, Norris Earl White Jr. (hereinafter referred to as “White”) filed a complaint against the City of North Charleston (hereinafter referred to as “City”). The action was removed to District Court on January 19, 2016. White thereafter amended his complaint to remove claims arising under federal subject matter jurisdiction, and the case was remanded back to state court on February 19, 2016. White’s amended complaint alleges that he was arrested without probable cause, that the City of North Charleston is responsible for the acts of its officers by virtue of the doctrine of respondent superior and the South Carolina Torts Claims Act. On June 8, 2017, the lower court dismissed on summary judgment all of the following claims: (1) Assault and Battery; (2) False Arrest (“unlawful arrest”); (3) False Imprisonment; (4) Negligence / Gross Negligence; (5) Excessive Force; (6) Malicious Prosecution. White voluntarily withdrew his claim for Negligent Hiring, Training, and Supervision; wrongful detainment; and, unlawful search and seizure.

On June 19, White timely filed a Motion to Reconsider under Rule 59(e) arguing summary judgment was improper and requesting specific ruling on all issues presented. On August 18, 2017 the lower court denied White’s Motion to Reconsider. White timely filed and served Notice of Appeal on September 18, 2017.

The subject matter of this action and all allegations and claims set forth pursuant to the South Carolina Tort Claims Act (the “TCA”), S.C. Code 15-78-100(b). The Tort Claims Act renders state agencies and governmental entities "liable for their torts in the same manner and to the same extent as a private individual under like circumstances, subject to the limitations and exemptions contained within the Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-40 (Supp.2001). The Complaint

states that all claims against the City and its employees are properly brought under common law and the jurisdiction of the TCA.

The dispositive issue is whether there was probable cause to arrest White for charged and uncharged offenses. The lower Court's Order granting summary judgment reaches no conclusion concerning whether White failed to present evidence that his arrest was without probable cause. Because there are factual disputes regarding the existence of probable cause, summary judgment on White's claims of unlawful arrest, excessive force, negligence and unlawful imprisonment is inappropriate.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment should be granted only where it is perfectly clear that no genuine issue of material fact exists and inquiry into facts is not desirable to clarify application of the law. *Wortman v. City of Spartanburg*, 310 S.C. 1, 425 S.E.2d 18 (1992), quoting, *Bates v. City of Columbia*, 301 S.C. 320, 391 S.E.2d 733 (1990). "In South Carolina, the issue of probable cause is a question of affect and ordinarily one for the jury." *Jones v. City of Columbia*, SC 301 S.C. 320, 391 S.E. 2d 733 (1990).

Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied. *Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 362 S.C. 529, 608 S.E.2d 440 (Ct.App.2004). When the burden of proof is by a preponderance of the evidence, a non-moving party need only present a scintilla of evidence to withstand a motion for summary judgment. *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330 (2009). All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be

construed most strongly against the movant. *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 331 S.C. 192 (Ct. App. 1998).

FACTS

On December 28, 2013, at approximately 5:00 a.m., White was dining inside of a Waffle House Restaurant in North Charleston, S.C., and seated in a booth near the exit door. White was accompanied by his friend J. Omar and two female companions. The group of four arrived at approximately 4:00 am, and after being seated they all ordered breakfast. There is no evidence to suggest that anyone in their group was intoxicated. Waffle House employee, Laura Fitzpatrick, who was serving White and his friends, provided an affidavit, which supports this assertion, and the arresting officer, Officer Arroyo, cannot say that White was intoxicated. (Aff. of Witness Laura Fitzpatrick); (Depo of Officer Arroyo, 55/24 – 56/1).

Also at the Waffle House that night seated only two to three booths down from White was City of North Charleston Police Officer, Officer Arroyo and Officer Arroyo's wife. Officer Arroyo was present at the Waffle House under the authority of the City of North Charleston Police Department (hereinafter referred to as "NCPD"), pursuant to the NCPD Secondary Employment / Off-Duty Employment Policy, NCPD Policy A-23. Pl. Exhibit. He was being paid by the Waffle House to be present, but he remained under the scope of his employment with the NCPD. This fact is not in dispute. Officer Arroyo was seated facing the restaurant and his wife was seated with her back to the restaurant. Officer Arroyo testified that he could not see the faces of anyone sitting at White's table; that, he was looking at the backs of their heads. (Depo. of Officer Arroyo, 57/8 – 57/18).

The incident occurred on a weekend, and it was the early morning hours. The crowd in the Waffle House at this particular location is considered by Waffle House employees to be a “party crowd.” (Aff. of Laura Fitzpatrick). “It’s not a family friendly type atmosphere at that time.” Id. At 4:00 a.m. in the morning the Waffle House at this location is loud. The patrons are typically boisterous, they dress interestingly, they use profanity and many of them are intoxicated. (See, Id.; and, Depo. of Officer King, 56/2-23). NCPD Police Officer King agreed with the above in his deposition. The Waffle House at that time is not a “library,” and not a place to bring your children. (Depo of Officer King, Def. Mot. for Sum. J.).

White and the members of his table were behaving in a civil manner, and no differently from any other patron in the Waffle House (Aff. of Laura Fitzpatrick). White and his companions were enjoying their meal, while having a rousing conversation. They were openly socializing in their booth amongst themselves. Their conversation was filled with laughter and they were smiling. (Deposition of Christopher Arroyo, 57/19 – 58/10). They were not disruptive to other patrons. This much can be seen by observing the surveillance video, and watching the reactions of patrons inside the Waffle House. (Surveillance Video). The only moment the patron’s attention is had is when Officer Arroyo created a disruption by arresting White. (See, Surveillance Video).

White and his friends made no threats to any patron, person or employee in the Waffle House and they did not use fighting words or threatening language directed at each other or any patron or employee. (Aff of Laura Fitzpatrick; Depo of Officer Arroyo, 79/25 – 80/8, 89/24-90/1, 62/16-18; Depo of Officer King, 81/12-13).

For reasons unknown to White, Officer Arroyo approached his table at approximately 5:00 am, and told White to leave. No employee or patron of the Waffle House asked White to leave before Officer Arroyo arrested him. Moreover, witness Laura Fitzpatrick provided a sworn statement that she did “not know why the police officer decided to go to their table.” “I did not ask him to and I did not make eye contact, or motion for him to go to their table.” (Affidavit of Laura Fitzpatrick). However, Officer Arroyo testified in his deposition that he decided it was time to remove White from the restaurant when an employee, which had to be Laura Fitzpatrick, made special eye contact with him, which was a signal to remove White. (Depo of Officer Arroyo, 58/2-60/24, Def. Mot. for Sum. J.). The surveillance video, however, contradicts Officer Arroyo’s testimony, as no employee or patron is seen looking at or motioning to Officer Arroyo around the time before he approached White’s table.

White then asked Officer Arroyo why he needed to leave, and Officer Arroyo responds by pulling White from the table and immediately placing him under arrest with both White’s hands behind his back. White states that he did not struggle, but that he continually questioned why Officer Arroyo was arresting him. Officer Arroyo struggled to competently handcuff White, and guided White to the other end of the restaurant. The surveillance shows Mr. White turning his head to the left, and at that point Officer Arroyo wrestles White’s arm and slams White face first into the tile floor. (Depo of Officer Arroyo, 83/9-14). White believes he may have lost consciousness at this point. Officer King then arrives, and assists Officer Arroyo pick White up off the ground. Both Officer King and Officer Arroyo thereafter guide the handcuffed White out of the Waffle House. With White’s hands forced upward and toward the ceiling,

White is bent over while stumbling as he is being forced forward, and both Officer Arroyo and Officer King use White's head to open two glass doors.

Officer Arroyo and Officer King thereafter escort White to Officer King's unit, search his person without consent, and place White in the rear of Officer King's police car, behind the driver's seat. Officer King allegedly buckled White into the seat, and closed the door. Before being incarcerated in Charleston County Detention Center White was transported by EMS to Trident Medical Center where he was treated for a suspected head injury, as well as facial and scalp contusions.

White was charged with Disorderly Conduct and Resisting Arrest, and was detained in Charleston County Detention Center. White was forced to pay bail and hire a lawyer. White filed a complaint with the NCPD and an internal investigation was conducted by the NCPD, Office of Professional Standards. Officer Arroyo testified that he was never interviewed by anyone in NCPD internal affairs. (Depo of Officer Arroyo, 109/7-8). Moreover, based on the evidence, the NCDP officers tasked with investigating the arrest of White did not view the surveillance video before Chief Driggers ordered Detective Allen on February 11, 2014 to send White a letter informing White that the NCPD concluded that there were no violations of NCPD policies involved in his arrest. (See, NCPD Internal Investigation, Sgt. Allen). Therefore, the decision to close the investigation of White's arrest was made knowing of the existence of a surveillance video, but without having viewed it.

The charges against White were ultimately *nol prossed* on April 13, 2015 after City Prosecutor Vaughn viewed the surveillance video, some 15 months after the charges were filed. According the Prosecutor Vaughn, the charges were dropped due to "lack of prosecutorial

merit.” (Statement of Atty Vaughn). Defendant claims in its Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment that attorney Vaughn dismissed both charges against White without having consulted “the officer or anyone at the Police Department.” However, there is no fact in evidence to draw this conclusion and Defendant has objected to providing attorney Vaughn’s file on the basis of privilege.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE THERE IS A GENUINE DISPUTE AS TO WHETHER THE RESPONDENT’S ARREST OF APPELLANT WAS LAWFUL AND SUPPORTED BY PROBABLE CAUSE.

Appellant maintains that the lower court erred in granting summary judgment because materials facts are in dispute as to the existence or nonexistence of probable cause to effect a lawful arrest. The dispositive issue before the court is whether there was probable cause to arrest White for charged and uncharged offenses. The determination of probable cause is relevant to all of White’s claims.

“South Carolina follows the minority rule that the issue of probable cause is a question of fact and ordinarily one for the jury.” *Jones v. Columbia*, 389 S.E.2d 662, 662, 301 S.C. 62, 63, 1990 S.C. LEXIS 49, *1 (S.C. Feb. 26, 1990); See, *Gathers v. Harris Teeter Supermarket, Inc.*, 282 S.C. 220, 317 S.E.2d 748 (Ct. App. 1984); *Parrott v. Plowden Motor Co.*, 246 S.C. 318, 143 S.E.2d 607 (1965). "The fundamental question in determining whether an arrest is lawful is whether there was 'probable cause' to make the arrest." *Id. Martin v. Lott*, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 13813, *6, 2010 WL 597209 (D.S.C. Feb. 16, 2010) (quoting, *Wortman v. Spartanburg*, 310 S.C. 1, 425 S.E.2d 18 (S.C. 1992).

"In assessing the existence of probable cause, courts examine the totality of the circumstances known to the officer at the time of the arrest." *Taylor v. Waters*, 81 F.3d 429, 434 (4th Cir. 1996). To succeed on a claim of wrongful arrest, White must allege facts that make it "unjustifiable for a reasonable officer to conclude" that he violated the disorderly conduct statute to demonstrate that defendants did not have probable cause to arrest him. *Smith v. Cooper*, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 39687, *15, 2011 WL 1376100 (D.S.C. Apr. 12, 2011) (quoting, *Brown v. Gilmore*, 278 F.3d 362, at 368 (4th Cir. 2002)). "Probable cause exists when the facts and circumstances known to the officer would warrant the belief of a prudent person that the arrestee had committed or was committing an offense." *Id.* "Probable cause must be supported by more than a mere suspicion, but evidence sufficient to convict is not required." *Hurlbert v. City of N. Charleston*, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 35777, *11, 2010 WL 1492868 (D.S.C. Apr. 12, 2010).

Here, there are issues of material fact concerning whether White violated the S.C. disorderly conduct statute, S.C. Code Sec. 16-17-530, or violated any law whatsoever. The United States Supreme Court has consistently held that a charge of disorderly conduct requires that the arrestee's actions rise to the level of "fighting words." *Houston v. Hill*, 482 U.S. 451 (1987). The "fighting words" exception to protected speech means that the conduct must constitute more than mere spoken words. *Gooding v. Wilson*, 405 U.S. 518, 92 S.Ct. 1103 (1972). However, even Officer Arroyo testified that White never used fighting words.

In addition, the video surveillance evidence does not support the contention that White violated any law, and it does not objectively support the charge of resisting arrest. The facts of what actually happened before and during White's arrest, and the degree of force deployed by the officers, is disputed by the parties. The facts, testimony and affidavits show that the parties

dispute each and every detail, and it is on the disputed facts that the court instructs the jury to rely to find whether or not there was an objective basis to form a good faith belief that White was guilty of any crime. *Gathers v. Harris Teeter Supermarket*, 282 S.C. 220, 317 S.E.2d 748 (Ct. App. 1984).

Moreover, there is a genuine issue of material fact as to what White said prior to Officer Arroyo approaching his table, and what White said during his arrest. There is no audio evidence to provide a concrete resolution of this issue, and multiple conflicting witness accounts of what was said by both the arresting officer, White, and the witnesses seated at White's table. There is a genuine issue as to what Officer Arroyo said to White, whether Officer Arroyo told White why he was being arrested, whether Officer White asked White to leave, under what authority he told White to leave, and why he asked White to leave. There is a genuine issue as to what witnesses Fitzpatrick and McCullough heard and observed before and during White's arrest. In sum, there is a genuine issue of material fact as to probable cause, which should be determined by a jury.

Consequently, viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to White, summary was improvidently granted because a genuine issue of material fact existed as to whether there was probable cause for White's arrest, and thus whether White's arrest was lawful. In other words, the existence of probable cause is a question of fact material to the lawfulness of White's arrest, and this question is one that must be decided by a jury. *Jones*, 389 S.E.2d 662, 662, 301 S.C. 62, 63, (S.C. Feb. 26, 1990).

II. THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN RULING THAT NO PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION EXISTS FOR APPELLANT'S CLAIMS, IN HOLDING APPELLANT'S NEGLIGENCE CLAIM TO A GROSS NEGLIGENCE STANDARD, AND IN GRANTING IMMUNITY TO RESPONDENT ON THE BASIS OF DISCRETIONARY JUDGMENT AND/OR INTENTIONAL ACTS UNDER THE TORT CLAIMS ACT.

This action is governed by the South Carolina Tort Claims Act (“TCA”), common law and the South Carolina Constitution. This Court’s order granting summary judgment is flawed to the extent it is based on the following principals: (i) no private right of action for false (“unlawful”) arrest / false imprisonment, (ii) gross negligence standard; and (iii) discretionary immunity and/or intentional acts under the TCA.

- a. The court below erred in ruling that no private right of action exists for Appellant’s claims.

The lower court’s order granting summary judgment with respect to false arrest (“unlawful arrest”), negligence and false imprisonment (“unlawful imprisonment”) on the basis that there is no private right of action for these causes of action is unclear, unsupported by the law, and based on a mistake of law or misapprehension of White’s claims and/or the facts involved. White’s claims are based in common law, and they are not prohibited by the. The only cause of action expressly prohibited by the Tort Claims Act (“TCA”) is intentionally infliction of emotional distress. S.C. Code § 15-78-30(f).

The TCA holds government entities, specifically local police officers, to the same standard as everyone else. “The State, an agency, a political subdivision, and a governmental entity are liable for their torts in the same manner and to the same extent as a private individual under like circumstances, subject to the limitations upon liability and damages, and exceptions from liability and damages contained therein.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-40 (Supp. 1998).

- b. The court below erred in holding appellant to a gross negligence to prevail on his claims.

The trial court erred in holding White to a gross negligence standard to prevail on his claim for false arrest, and/or all other claims brought by White. None of the exceptions from

liability impose a standard of gross negligence on the torts of false arrest and imprisonment. *Gist v. Berkeley County Sheriff's Dep't*, 336 S.C. 611, 521 S.E.2d 163 (S.C. App. 1999), S.C. Code § 15-78-60 (Supp. 1998). *Wortman*, the case decided under the Tort Claims Act, did not include gross negligence as an element of the torts. See, *Wortman v. Spartanburg*, 310 S.C. 1, 425 S.E.2d 18 (1992). (“We find the gross negligence standard is not applicable to the present case.”); See S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60 (Supp. 1998). Nonetheless, White posits that there are abundant facts that at least create an issue as to whether the Officer’s acts were negligent or grossly negligent, which is defined as “the absence of care that is necessary under the circumstances. *Clark v. Dept. of Public Safety*, 53 S.C. 291, 578 S.E.2d 16 (S.C. App., 2002).

- c. The court below erred in granting immunity to respondent on the basis of discretionary judgment and/or intentional acts under the TCA.

The City of North Charleston was not entitled to summary judgment on all causes of action under 15-78-60(5) and (17) of the Tort Claims Act.

Section 15-78-60 provides:

The governmental entity is not liable for a loss resulting from . . .

(5) the exercise of discretion or judgment by the governmental entity or employee or the performance or failure to perform any act or service which is in the discretion or judgment of the governmental entity or employee;

(17) employee conduct outside the scope of his official duties or which constitutes actual fraud, actual malice, intent to harm, or a crime involving moral turpitude;

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