RECEIVED

JUN 26 2018

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Kristi L. Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No.: 2017-001930

---

Norris Earl. White, Jr., ..... Appellant

v.

City of North Charleston, ..... Respondent

---

**RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

ROBIN L. JACKSON  
SC BAR 16948  
*Senn Legal, LLC*  
P.O. Box 12279  
Charleston, SC 29422  
843-556-4045  
fax: 843-556-4046  
Robin@SennLegal.com

Attorney for Respondent

##

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION CONFERS NO PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION AND THEREFORE THE COURT’S ORDER SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.**

White filed his initial complaint on December 4, 2015. In that Complaint, he alleged “Wrongful detainment and false arrest” pursuant to the United States Constitution and the Constitution of South Carolina, “in particular, Plaintiff’s right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures under the Fourth Amendment of the South Carolina Constitution.” (R. p. 11, ¶31).<sup>1</sup> Based on this, the City removed the case to Federal Court. In response, White amended his

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant voluntarily withdrew the cause of action for wrongful detainment in his motion to reconsider. (R. p. 284).

Complaint to remove all references to the United States Constitution, but kept the references to the South Carolina Constitution. (R. p. 23, ¶40). He further alleged two other constitutional violations -- False Imprisonment (R. p. 24, ¶44) and Unlawful Search and Seizure (R. p. 25, ¶49).<sup>2</sup> However, also in the Amended Complaint, where Plaintiff alleged Assault and Battery, (R. p. 23, ¶35) he specifically alleged liability pursuant to the South Carolina Tort Claims Act. Even in his brief to this court, he asserts that the claims are pursuant to the South Carolina Constitution. (Init. Br. of Appellant at 11, ¶1).

The False Arrest and False Imprisonment causes of action alleged under the South Carolina Constitution should be dismissed because South Carolina has no statutory equivalent to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 which gives rise to a private cause of action for money damages.<sup>3</sup> There is no procedural mechanism for a private right of action for money damages for a state constitutional deprivation. Although there is almost no law on this topic, defendants refer the court to its own decision - *Gibbs v. South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, Op. No. 2002-UP-363 (S.C. Ct. App. 2002). While unpublished and having no precedential value, it is instructive. This Court concluded that “[a]lthough section 1983 provides a method for obtaining monetary damages for violations of civil rights protected by the federal constitution, there is not a similar provision in South Carolina which enables a citizen to bring a private right of action for civil damages under the state constitution.” This Court held that “no viable cause of action exists where, as here, the state

---

<sup>2</sup> White’s claim for search and seizure violations was voluntarily dismissed in his motion to reconsider. (R. p. 284).

<sup>3</sup> In his brief, at page 11, White includes under subsection (a) that the negligence cause of action was dismissed due to there being no private right of action, but this is not correct. Only False Arrest, False Imprisonment and the now withdrawn Unlawful Search and Seizure causes of action were dismissed on this basis. (R. p. 1).

Constitution does not provide for a private right of action for civil rights violations and the legislature has not enacted a statute enabling this type of action.” *Id.* The Supreme Court declined to review this decision as well. In his brief, White argues that this position is not supported by case law, but provides no law in support of his own position. There is simply no statutory scheme in South Carolina which enables a citizen to bring a private right of action for civil damages under the state constitution.

Additionally, White argues that he brings these allegations pursuant to the Tort Claims Act, but his Complaint only sets out that the Assault and Battery cause of action is pursuant to the Tort Claims Act. He does not make the same allegation on these causes of action. To the contrary, Appellant alleges False Arrest and False Imprisonment as a violation of his “constitutionally protected rights.”

The City asserts the state constitutional claims are also barred by sovereign immunity. Prior to the Supreme Court’s decision in *McCall v. Batson*, 285 S.C. 243, 329 S.E. 2d 741 (1985), governmental entities and their employees were protected by sovereign immunity. *McCall* abolished sovereign immunity, but the following year, the South Carolina Tort Claims Act was enacted by the General Assembly, and “reinstat[ed] sovereign immunity for the State and its political subdivisions with certain exceptions.” *Jinks v. Richland Cnty.*, 349 S.C. 298, 306, 563 S.E.2d 104, 108 (2002), *rev’d on other grounds*, 538 U.S. 456 (2003). The Act “removes the common law bar of sovereign immunity in certain circumstances, but only to the extent mandated by the Act.” *Bayle v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 344 S.C. 115, 121, 542 S.C. 2d 736, 739 (Ct. App. 2001). The General Assembly plainly states that it “intends to provide for liability on the part of the State, its political subdivisions, and employees, while acting within the scope of official duty, *only to the extent provided herein.*” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-20(b) (emphasis added). “All other immunities applicable to a governmental

entity, its employees, and agents are expressly preserved.” *Id.*

It is clearly established that in response to the *McCall* decision, the General Assembly reinstated sovereign immunity, subject only to a limited waiver provided in the Tort Claims Act. The Act does not include a waiver of sovereign immunity for violations of the South Carolina Constitution. Therefore, sovereign immunity is a bar to a claim for money damages, including those made by White in this case. The City asks this court to follow its prior decision and affirm the trial court’s grant of summary judgment on the allegations of state constitutional violations through false arrest and false imprisonment.

**II. THERE IS CLEAR PROBABLE CAUSE IN THIS MATTER AND THEREFORE NO EVIDENCE OF FALSE ARREST OR FALSE IMPRISONMENT.**

If this court declines to follow its decision in *Gibbs*, the grant of summary judgment was still proper as there is clear evidence of probable cause and White failed to produce a scintilla of evidence in opposition to summary judgment. White has alleged both False Arrest and False Imprisonment. To prevail on a cause of action for false arrest, White must establish: “(1) the defendant restrained the plaintiff, (2) the restraint was intentional, and (3) the restraint was unlawful.” *Law v. S.C. Dep’t of Corrs.*, 368 S.C. 424, 440, 629 S.E.2d 642, 651 (2006). Similarly, the tort of false imprisonment is simply “a deprivation of a person’s liberty without justification.” *Caldwell v. K-Mart Corp.*, 306 S.C. 27, 30, 410 S.E.2d 21, 23 (Ct. App. 1991), *cert. denied*, 306 S.C. 27 (1992). False Imprisonment requires the same elements as false arrest. *See id.* (citing *Andrews v. Piedmont Air Lines*, 297 S.C. 367, 377 S.E.2d 127 (Ct. App. 1989)).

Generally, a police officer who arrests an individual will not be liable for false arrest or false imprisonment if the arrest was supported by probable cause. *See Jones v. City of Columbia*, 301 S.C.

62, 64, 389 S.E.2d 662, 663 (1990). In this case, White claims that Officer Arroyo lacked probable cause to arrest him for a violation of S.C. Code Ann. §16-17-530 (Public disorderly conduct), and therefore, the restraint was unlawful. White has the burden of proving lack of probable cause. *Jackson v. City of Abbeville*, 366 S.C. 662, 666, 623 S.E.2d 656, 658 (Ct. App. 2005)(citing *Parrott v. Plowden Motor Co.*, 246 S.C. 318, 322, 143 S.E.2d 607, 609 (1965)). In discussing issues related to probable cause, the court in *Jackson* explained:

Probable cause turns not on the individual's actual guilt or innocence, but on whether facts within the officer's knowledge would lead a reasonable person to believe the individual arrested was guilty of a crime. Probable cause is defined as a good faith belief that a person is guilty of a crime when this belief rests on such grounds as would induce an ordinarily prudent and cautious man, under the circumstances, to believe likewise. Probable cause is determined as of the time of the arrest, based on facts and circumstances-objectively measured-known to the arresting officer. The determination of probable cause is not an academic exercise in hindsight.

*Jackson*, 366 S.C. at 666-67, 623 S.E.2d at 658-59 (internal quotations and citations omitted). "Although the question of whether probable cause exists is ordinarily a jury question, it may be decided as a matter of law when the evidence yields but one conclusion." *McBride v. Sch. Dist. Of Greenville Cnty.*, 389 S.C. 546, 567, 698 S.E.2d 845, 855-56 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting *Law*, 368 S.C. at 436, 629 S.E.2d at 649).

Appellant White argues, incorrectly, that there is an "issue of material fact" as to whether White violated S.C. Code Ann. §16-17-530. White asserts that because none of his conduct rose to the level of "fighting words" there is no probable cause for the arrest for Disorderly Conduct.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> The principle that the State may not punish a person for disorderly conduct unless they use "fighting words" is limited to situations where a person is addressing a police officer, not to all instances of Disorderly Conduct. *See, e.g., State v. Bailey*, 368 S.C. 39, 626 S.E.2d 898 (Ct. App. 2006). Here, White's actions prior to his interaction with Officer Arroyo constituted Disorderly Conduct as to the public.

White's argument is fatally flawed because it is based on the wrong statute. White was never charged with Disorderly Conduct pursuant to S.C. Code §16-17-530. Officer Arroyo charged White with Disorderly Conduct under the North Charleston City Ordinance §13-36 - Disturbing the Peace. (R.46, ll. 19-25, R. 47, ll.1-7). Specifically, he was charged with subsection (b)(13), which states in pertinent part:

(b) A person shall be guilty of disorderly conduct, which is hereby prohibited, if . . . his conduct is likely to cause . . . nuisance, he willfully does any of the following acts in a public place:

(13) Makes or causes to be made any loud, boisterous or unreasonable noise or disturbance to the annoyance of any other persons nearby.....

In this case, Officer Arroyo testified that he sat in a booth and listened to and observed White's behavior for thirty minutes before approaching him. (R. p. 178). During those thirty minutes, White can be seen jumping up from his table twice, walking around the restaurant while still talking to his friends at the table, pounding a chair, waving his arms, high-fiving his friend, and spending time at the table talking boisterously. (R. p. 178). Officer Arroyo testified that around 5:00 a.m., the conversation at White's table increased in volume and profanity. This is supported by two affidavits of employees. (R. p. 212, ¶¶5-6; R. p. 227, ¶¶ 5, 7; R. p. 264, ¶ 7; R. p. 135 - 58:16-24). White disputes that he was using fighting words, racial slurs, or curse words, however the North Charleston Ordinance does not require any of these.

Additionally, once Officer Arroyo told White to leave and White refused, he was thereafter trespassing after notice. The Waffle House had hired the North Charleston Police Department to provide security and therefore gave them jurisdiction over the property to make arrests when necessary. This court, in *Jackson v. City of Abbeville*, clearly stated "that the determination of 'probable cause to arrest' for the purpose of [plaintiff's] tort claims may properly include

consideration of an uncharged offense.” *Jackson*, 366 S.C. at 666, 623 S.E.2d at 658. “Statutory criminal trespass involves ... the failure to leave a .... place of business... after having been requested to leave.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Cross*, 323 S.C. 41, 43, 448 S.E. 2d 569, 570 (Ct. App. 1994)). A police officer may arrest a person who commits trespass after notice in the officer’s presence. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-30; *State v. Mims*, 263 S.C. 45, 208 S.E.2d 288 (1974).

Officer Arroyo’s own observations and interactions with White leading up to his arrest constitute probable cause and White’s actions as seen on the video support this. The “facts within the officer’s knowledge would lead a reasonable person to believe the individual arrested was guilty of a crime.” *Jackson*, 366 S.C. at 666, 623 S.E.2d at 658. White’ crimes included Trespass after Notice and Disorderly Conduct under the North Charleston Ordinance. Officer Arroyo witnessed the acts himself. Because Officer Arroyo personally witnessed the “loud, boisterous or unreasonable noise or disturbance” that violated the North Charleston Ordinance under which White was charged, and this can be seen on the video, probable cause existed for White’s arrest. Further, because White failed to leave the place of business after having been requested to leave, probable cause also existed for White’s arrest on the uncharged offense Trespass after Notice. Therefore, the restraint by the officer was not illegal. Therefore, the City asks this court to affirm the decision of the trial court with regard to false arrest and false imprisonment.

**III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE RESPONDENT IS ENTITLED TO IMMUNITY PURSUANT TO THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA TORT CLAIMS ACT.**

The trial court granted the City immunity pursuant to S.C. Code §15-78-60, on the basis of (5) discretionary acts and (17) the intent to harm exception. While the intent to harm exception only applies to the Assault and Battery cause of action, the discretionary immunity applies to all other

causes of action. White argues that the court improperly imputed a gross negligence standard to his causes of action, but it is clear that such was not done, as the court granted the City full immunity for discretionary acts – without imputing the gross negligence standard that is contained in S.C. Code §15-78-60(25). Subsection (25) was never argued or mentioned in the court’s order.

“The primary rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature.” *Kerr v. Richland Mem’l Hosp.*, 383 S.C. 146, 148, 678 S.E.2d 809, 811 (2009) (citing *Mid-State Auto Auction of Lexington, Inc. v. Altman*, 324 S.C. 65, 69, 476 S.E.2d 690, 692 (1996)). The General Assembly has stated its intent in the Tort Claims Act through S.C. Code Ann. §15-78-200, which provides:

Notwithstanding any provision of law, this chapter, the “South Carolina Tort Claims Act”, is the exclusive and sole remedy for any tort committed by an employee of a governmental entity while acting within the scope of the employee’s official duty. The provisions of this chapter establish limitations on and exemptions to the liability of the governmental entity and **must be liberally construed in favor of limiting the liability of the governmental entity.**

S.C. Code §15-78-200 (emphasis added). It is clear from the plain language of the statute that the Tort Claims Act is to be read in favor of limiting liability. Based on this, the trial court correctly and properly granted summary judgment based on discretionary immunity and the intent to harm exceptions. White also asserts that the Tort Claims Act is an affirmative defense that must be pled. The City asserts that it was, in fact, pled in the Answer to the Amended Complaint. (R. p. 35, ¶77).

**A. AS THERE IS EVIDENCE OF THE WEIGHING OF COMPETING CONSIDERATIONS, THE “DISCRETIONARY IMMUNITY” PROVISION APPLIES.**

“The governmental entity is not liable for a loss ... resulting from the exercise of discretionary judgment by a governmental employee or the failure to perform any act or service which is in the discretion or judgment of the employee.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60 (5). To establish “discretionary

immunity,” the governmental entity must prove that the governmental employees, faced with alternatives, actually weighed competing considerations and made a conscious choice; furthermore, the governmental entity must show that in weighing the competing considerations and alternatives, it utilized accepted professional standards appropriate to resolve the issue before them. *Stephens v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 415 S.C. 182, 200, 781 S.E.2d 534, 543-34 (2015); *Steinke v. S.C. Dep’t of Labor, Licensing and Regulation*, 336 S.C. 373, 392, 520 S.E.2d 142, 154 (1999); *Clark v. S.C. Dep’t of Pub. Safety*, 353 S.C. 291, 304, 578 S.E.2d 16, 22 (Ct. App. 2002), *affirmed*, 362 S.C. 377, 608 S.E.2d 573 (2005). A governmental entity is not liable for losses resulting from an exercise of discretion by its employees. *Faile v. S.C. Dep’t of Juvenile Justice*, 350 S.C. 315, 330, 566 S.E.2d 536, 544 (2002).

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